IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01441

KEVIN BERRY

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

VS.

ORA L. PATTEN, et. al.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi Cause No. L-2002-138

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Prepared and submitted by:

L. CARL HAGWOOD Mississippi Bar Northead CHRISTOPHER W, WINTER Mississippi Bar Northead MARY FRANCES S. ENGLAND Mississippi Bar Northead Wilkins Tipton Post Office Box 4537 Greenville, Mississippi 38704 Telephone (662) 335-5555 Facsimile (662) 335-5700

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01441

KEVIN BERRY

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

VS.

ORA L. PATTEN, et. al.

Statement of the Issues
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument
Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service
Certificate of Filing

-. i

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:

.

x

-

Barner v. Gorman, 605 So. 2d 805 (Miss. 1992)
Beverly Enters. v. Reed, 961 So. 2d 40 (Miss. 2007)
Capler v. City of Greenville, 207 So. 2d 339 (Miss. 1968)
Cheeks v. Bio-Medical Applications, Inc., 908 So.2d 117 (Miss. 2005)
<i>Clayton v. Thompson</i> , 475 So. 2d 439 (Miss. 1985) 5, 16, 22, 23, 36
Daubert v. Merrill Dowell Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993)
DeLaughter v. Lawrence County Hosp., 601 So. 2d 818 (Miss. 1992)
Harding v. Harding, 185 So. 2d 452 (Miss. 1966)
Hubbard v. Wansley, 954 So. 2d 951 (Miss. 2007)
Johnson v. Med. Express Ambulance Service, Inc., 565 F.Supp. 2d 699 (S.D.Miss. 2008)
Long v. McKinney, 897 So. 2d 160 (Miss. 2004)
McCaffrey v. Puckett, 784 So.2d 197 (Miss. 2001)
Methodist Hospital of Hattiesburg, Inc. v. Richardson, 909 So. 2d 1066 (Miss. 2005)
Mississippi Transportation Comm'n v. Ronald Adam Contractors, Inc., 753 So. 2d 1077 (Miss. 2000)
Miss. Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31 (Miss. 2003)
Nunnally v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 869 So. 2d 373 (Miss. 2004)
<i>Richardson v. Norfolk & Southern Ry.</i> , 923 So. 2d 1002 (Miss. 2006)
River Region Med. Corp. v. Patterson, 975 So. 2d 205 (Miss. 2007)

Scott v. Ball, 595 So. 2d 848 (Miss. 1992)
<i>Splain v. Hines</i> , 609 So. 2d 1234 (Miss. 1992)
<i>Thompson v. City of Vicksburg</i> , 813 So. 2d 717 (Miss. 2002)
Twin County Elec. Power Assoc. v. McKenzie, 823 So. 2d 464 (Miss. 2002)
Willing v. Estate of Benz, 958 So. 2d 1240 (Miss. 2007)
Young v. Guild, 7 So. 3d 251(Miss. 2009)

STATUTES:

$10155. \text{ K}. \text{ EVID. } / 02 \text{ (anchucu May 29, 2005)} \dots \dots$	MISS.	R. EVID. 702	(amended May 2	9, 2003)		7,3	38
--	-------	--------------	----------------	----------	--	-----	----

OTHER:

. . .

ł

.

50 C.J.S. Juries 228, 975 (1947)		
STEADMAN'S MEDICAL DICTION	ARY (27 th ed. 2000)	

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The Plaintiffs failed to prove their case by a preponderance of the credible evidence as required by Mississippi law, as Plaintiffs did not have any credible evidence that Defendant breached any applicable standard of care that caused or contributed to Sheila Patten's death.
- II. Jury instruction P-6A improperly instructed the jury as to the alleged standard of care in that it instructed the jury that they could find for the Plaintiff and against Kevin Berry by describing procedures not found in medicine, by describing procedures that are contrary to all known anesthesia protocols, by describing procedures not testified to by the expert witnesses who testified at trial, and was granted over strenuous objections of defense counsel; thus, the finding by the jury of causal relationship between the stated breaches of standard of care in Plaintiff's Jury Instruction P-6A and death is impermissible under our jurisprudence.
- III. The only wrongful death beneficiaries were three children, and the trial court erred in denying the Defendant's Motion to Strike all damages for funeral expenses, medical expenses, and loss of the present net cash value of the decedent's life expectancy when heirship had not been determined, wrongful death beneficiaries had not been determined and guardianships for the minor children had not been established.
- IV. The trial court erred when, after the jury had been empaneled, after the jury had heard evidence, and after one of the jurors became ill, it removed Juror 26, Bradley S. Knight, the first alternate juror, and inserted Juror 27, Sheila R. Tyson, when juror

1

Bradley S. Knight on *voir dire* stated he could be fair and impartial, Plaintiff's counsel did not move to strike Mr. Knight for cause or strike Mr. Knight using a peremptory challenge, and Plaintiffs had not used all of their peremptory challenges.

- V. The trial court erred in denying Jury Instruction No. D-15, which correctly recited that Mississippi law does not permit recovery for damages for medical malpractice because of mere diminution of a patient's chance to recover when the Plaintiffs' standard of care and causation expert, Dr. James Futrell, stated in affidavit testimony prior to trial, which was reaffirmed at trial, "These deviations caused a missed opportunity to prevent and/or limit the occurrence of the aspiration that followed."
- VI. The trial court erred in allowing the Plaintiffs to call, by way of deposition and to present as an expert witness, Dr. Richard Mackey, a staff anesthesiologist at Baptist Memorial Hospital, when he responded to questions regarding the use of an NG tube in non-gastric bypass patients, the questions were abstract in nature, and Dr. Mackey had not reviewed the medical records in this case so as to be able to give expert testimony based upon the facts of this case, thus allowing the jury to hear testimony concerning the use of NG tubes in patients who had not had gastric bypass surgery.

. 2

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 17, 2002, Plaintiffs filed suit against Baptist Memorial Hospital, North Mississippi, Inc., Kevin Berry, Frederick D. Jones, M.D., and James Robert Barnes, M.D., alleging medical negligence. Sheila Patten had undergone gastric bypass surgery on April 17, 2000, without complications. However, on April 26, 2000, Ms. Patten presented to the emergency room complaining of abdominal pain and nausea and subsequently underwent surgery for a small bowel obstruction. In their Complaint, Plaintiffs alleged Sheila Patten aspirated when she underwent surgery to correct a bowel obstruction on April 26, 2000, and subsequently died on May 22, 2000. Plaintiff, Ora Patten, is Sheila Patten's mother and grandmother to the minor Plaintiffs, Bianca Patten, Shadarryl Hardnett and Mariah Patten. Thereafter, the Defendants filed their answers.

Prior to trial, Baptist Hospital and Dr. Barnes were dismissed from the suit. The trial proceeded against Kevin Berry, certified nurse anesthetist (CRNA), and Dr. Frederick D. Jones, anesthesiologist. On March 11, 2009, the jury found for the Plaintiffs against Defendant, Kevin Berry, only, and awarded damages of \$1,150,000, and judgment was entered. Thereafter, Defendant, Berry, filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding Verdict, Motion for a New Trial or, Alternatively, Motion for Remittitur, arguing that the jury's verdict was improper and erroneous as a matter of law and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence; that Jury Instruction P-6A did not conform to Mississippi law on negligence, in that the instruction used terms that do not exist in medicine and cannot be found in the record; that the trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider damages for the minors when no guardian had been appointed; that the trial court erred in allowing the jury to consider damages for funeral expenses, net present cash value and survival

claims, as the Plaintiffs lacked capacity to claim these elements of damages; that the trial court erred in allowing the reading of Dr. Richard Mackey's deposition in its entirety; that the trial court erred in striking Juror 26, Bradley S. Knight, and inserting Juror 27, Sheila R. Tyson, in his place when Juror 19, Louann Hood became ill; that the trial court erred in denying Defendant's requested jury instruction, D-15, when Plaintiffs' expert witness, Dr. James Futrell, affirmed, "These deviations caused a missed opportunity to prevent and/or limit the occurrence of the aspiration that followed;" and the trial court erred in denying Defendant's Motion for a Directed Verdict with regard to both causation and damages. Thereafter the trial court denied Defendant's Motion, and Defendant appealed to this Court.

j.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Plaintiffs failed to prove their case by a preponderance of the credible evidence as required by Mississippi law. The Plaintiffs did not prove that Defendant, Mr. Kevin Berry, breached any applicable standard of care and did not establish an issue on causation based on the decision in Clayton v. Thompson, 475 So. 2d 439 (Miss. 1985). In addition, Plaintiffs' Jury Instruction P-6A instructed the jury as to the alleged standard of care by using terms not found in the record or in medicine and thus not supported by the evidence. While the three minor plaintiffs apparently are the wrongful death beneficiaries, the trial court erred by allowing the jury to consider damages when heirship had not been determined, wrongful death beneficiaries had not been determined, and guardianship of the minors had not been determined. In addition, the trial court erred in striking Juror 26, Bradley S. Knight, on its own motion, when Mr. Knight attested he could be fair and impartial, Plaintiffs' counsel did not move to strike Mr. Knight for cause or use a peremptory strike against him and did not use all their peremptory challenges. Mississippi law has consistently held that a trial court has not committed reversible error when the trial court denies a party's challenge for cause when that party has not used all his peremptory challenges. Scott v. Ball, 595 So. 2d 848, 859 (Miss. 1992). Also, the trial court erred in denying Jury Instruction D-15 on lack of recovery as set forth in Mississippi law, when Plaintiffs' expert, Dr. Futrell, affirmed, "These deviations caused a missed opportunity to prevent and/or limit the occurrence of the aspiration that followed." Finally, the trial court erred in allowing Plaintiff to call, by way of deposition and to present as an expert witness, Dr. Richard Mackey, a staff anesthesiologist at Baptist Memorial Hospital, when he responded to questions regarding the use of an NG tube in non-gastric bypass patients, the questions were abstract in nature, and Dr. Mackey had not reviewed the medical records in this case so as to be able to give expert testimony based upon the facts of this case; thus allowing the jury to hear testimony concerning the use of NG tubes in patients who had not had gastric bypass surgery was clear error. For these reasons, the jury verdict should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. FACTS

On April 17, 2000, Sheila Patten underwent gastric bypass surgery, performed by Dr. James Robert Barnes, at Baptist Memorial Hospital. D.E. 7 at BMH 239; R.E. 2.¹ At the time, Ms. Patten was five feet, three inches tall and weighed 264 pounds. D.E. 7 at BMH 237; R.E. 2. Gastric bypass surgery is a radical surgery wherein a portion of the stomach is removed, leaving a pouch the size of a golf ball. Tr. at 182-83; R.E. 3. Prior to the surgery in April 2000, Ms. Patten had undergone two other surgeries, both of which had used the same method of anesthesia, that were criticized by the Plaintiffs' expert at trial, i.e., general anesthesia with rapid sequence <u>induction</u>.² Tr. at 185-88; R.E. 3.

In administering general anesthesia with rapid sequence <u>induction</u>, there are two steps. First, the patient is sedated or put to sleep and administered a paralytic drug, a process referred to as <u>induction</u>. Tr. at 119; R.E. 3. Second, a tube is immediately placed in the patient's trachea to breathe for the patient, a process referred to as <u>intubation</u>. *Id*. The term "rapid sequence induction," refers to the giving of a sedative, followed by a paralytic drug, followed by cricoid pressure, followed by

¹The various abbreviations for the citations are as follows: D.E.–Defendants' Exhibits, Tr.–Trial Transcript, R.–Pleadings from the Record, R.E.–Record Excerpts as filed with the Court.

²Throughout this brief the terms, "induction" and "intubation" will be underlined since one of the fatal flaws at trial was Plaintiffs' Jury Instruction P-6A, which confused the terms and allowed the jury to find liability where none exist.

intubation. Tr. at 248; R. at 655; R.E. 3 and 4.

Following her gastric bypass surgery, without incident, Ms. Patten was discharged on April 24, 2000. D.E. 7 at BMH 236; R.E. 2. On April 25, 2000, Ms. Patten returned to Baptist Memorial Hospital emergency room. D.E.10 at BMH 490-91; R.E. 2. Dr. Barnes' partner, Dr. Mickey King evaluated Ms. Patten and admitted her to the hospital for a small bowel obstruction, a known complication of gastric bypass surgery. Tr. at 140-42, 145, 232; R.E. 3. Dr. King wrote a series of orders. None of those orders included nasogastric tube insertion to drain the stomach contents. Id. A nasogastric tube is a tube that is inserted through the nose, threaded down the back of the throat and into the stomach in an attempt to drain off some of the stomach contents prior to induction. Tr. at 120-21; R.E. 3. However, Dr. Barnes' standing orders provide that under no circumstances can a gastric bypass patient ever have a nasogastric (NG) tube. Tr. at 136, 181-82, 221-22; R.E.3. The reason a nasogastric tube is prohibited in gastric bypass patients is because the physician inserts the NG tube blindly, resulting in a significant risk that the NG tube will tear the fresh staples, causing the stomach pouch to rupture, spilling gastric contents into the peritoneal space and potentially causing death due to sepsis. Tr. at 181-83, 220, 223, 230-31; R.E. 3. The surgeons and anesthesiologists providing care at Baptist Memorial Hospital determined that inserting a nasogastric tube into a post gastric bypass patient caused more risk than proceeding without a nasogastric tube. Id.

The following morning, Dr. Barnes came on duty and determined that Ms. Patten would undergo an exploratory laparotomy. D.E. 10 at BMH 332 &490-91; R.E. 2. During this time at Baptist, six or seven nurse anesthetists were supervised by three anesthesiologists. Tr. at 238-39; R.E. 3. The anesthesiologists conducted the medical evaluations, determined the anesthesia plan of care and supervised the nurse anesthetists, and the nurse anesthetists would perform the actual anesthesia <u>induction</u> and subsequent <u>intubation</u>. Tr. at 240-41, 246-47; R.E. 3. As for Ms. Patten's surgery, Dr. Roller, a board certified anesthesiologist, performed Ms. Patten's preanesthesia evaluation and developed the anesthesia care plan calling for general anesthesia with "rapid sequence <u>induction</u>." *Id.* Dr. Huggins and Dr. Jones were the other two anesthesiologists on duty that day and responded when Ms. Patten aspirated. Tr. at 248; R.E. 3. Dr. Huggins subsequently performed a pulmonary lavage to flush the lungs out with saline solution. Tr. at 194-95; R.E. 3. Ms. Patten began breathing again with the help of a ventilator, and Dr. Barnes performed the exploratory laparotomy to clear the small bowel obstruction. D.E. 10 at BMH 490-91; R.E. 2. However, Ms. Patten died several weeks later. D.E. 12 at NMMC 0005-6; R.E. 2.

Prior to trial, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss requesting that all claims for funeral expenses and medical expenses be dismissed because no estate had been opened; all claims for loss of the present net cash value be dismissed because no determination of wrongful death beneficiaries had been had; and that the Complaint be dismissed because Ora L. Patten had not obtained chancery court approval to proceed in this litigation of behalf of the minor Plaintiffs. R. at 212-19; R.E. 4. As to the minor children, the Defendants requested that the Plaintiffs be given ninety (90) days to cure and obtain chancery court approval to prosecute the claims and establish parentage and, if not, to dismiss the Complaint with prejudice. *Id.* Subsequently, the trial court denied Defendants' Motion. R. at 230; R.E. 4. At trial, Ms. Patten testified that she was Sheila Patten's mother and was grandmother to Bianca, Shadarryl and Mariah. Tr. at 72-73; R.E. 3. At the conclusion of Plaintiffs' evidence, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict against all claims of damages asserted by the Plaintiffs except for loss of society and companionship because Plaintiffs did not have the right to

bring claims for funeral and medical expenses, loss of present net cash value, and because a guardian had not been appointed for the minor Plaintiffs. Tr. at 203-04; R.E. 3. The court again denied Defendants' motion. *Id*.

As trial began, each side questioned the jury during *voir dire*. During *voir dire*, Plaintiff's attorney asked, "[a]nybody here or a close relative, like a husband or a wife, work for a lawyer? Nobody here works for a lawyer?" Tr. at 17; R.E. 3. Bradley Knight, juror number 26 answered that he worked for Hickman, Goza and Spraggins law firm.³ *Id*. Plaintiff's attorney followed up with several questions answered by Mr. Knight:

- Q. Mr. Duke Goza is here, is he not?
- A. Yes, sir. I'm a file clerk and runner.
- Q. Have you heard anything about this case since Duke got involved?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Would you feel uncomfortable facing Duke next week if we got \$2,000,000 awarded by the jury in this case and you were on the jury? Look in your heart.
- A. I don't think so.
- Q. You wouldn't feel uncomfortable?
- A. I do get paid, but I believe I could present a rationale judgment.
- Q. You think you could set aside the fact that you get compensated from one of the lawyers who's going to get compensated maybe, and you could set that aside?
- A. Yes, sir.

³Mr. Duke Goza was retained as the personal attorney for Dr. Jones and Kevin Berry and was present in the courtroom.

Tr. at 17-18; R.E. 3. During jury selection, Plaintiffs' counsel did not move to strike Mr. Knight for cause or utilize a peremptory strike, nor did Plaintiffs' counsel utilize all his peremptory challenges, and Mr. Knight was accepted as juror number 13. Tr. at 40-41; R.E. 3. During trial when LouAnn Hood, juror number 19, became ill, Mr. Knight as the first alternate juror should have moved into her position as the twelfth juror. However, the trial court, at the conclusion of all proof, on its own motion and over the objection of defense counsel, struck Mr. Knight and inserted the second alternate, Sheila R. Tyson. Tr. at 345-47; R.E. 3. Sheila Tyson was one of the nine jurors who returned the nine to three verdict for the Plaintiffs. Tr. at 353; R.E. 3.

During trial, Plaintiffs called by deposition their first witness, Dr. Richard Mackey, and defense counsel objected to the reading of Dr. Mackey's entire deposition into evidence because Dr. Mackey was not qualified or tendered in his deposition as an expert witness and had never reviewed Sheila Patten's chart. Tr. at 86-95; R.E. 3. After hearing arguments from both sides, the court noted that although Dr. Mackey was not technically tendered as an expert, he testified about his employment and training, which was sufficient to qualify him as an anesthesiologist. Tr. at 95; R.E. 3. The court also stated:

Now, the part that is concerning me is where he says he has not reviewed any of the records of this Ms. Patten; but from my brief view of the deposition, Mr. Walker's questions appear to be touching upon the general standard of care for a person that presents with this lady's problem.

I'm going to overrule the objection and allow the deposition to be read over the serious, strenuous objections of the defendants.

Tr. at 95; R.E. 3. Subsequently, Dr. Mackey's deposition was read into evidence. Tr. at 97; R.E.3.

The Plaintiffs then called their retained expert witness, Dr. James W. Futrell, Jr. Tr. at 109;

R.E. 3. Dr. Futrell testified he was an attending anesthesiologist in Los Angeles, California, and after reviewing Dr. Futrell's credentials and listing the records he reviewed, Plaintiffs' counsel tendered him as an expert. Tr. at 109-114; R.E. 3. Generally, Dr. Futrell testified that:

[T]here were significant breaches of the standard of care in the management of anesthesiology, both insofar as the supervision by the anesthesiologist, Dr. Jones, and by the nurse anesthetist, Mr. Berry, in the management of this patient in the preoperative evaluation of this patient, which resulted in the serious consequences leading to very adverse clinical consequences ultimately the death of the patient.

Tr. at 117-18; R.E. 3. Specifically, Dr. Futrell criticized the lack of communication between the initial anesthesia evaluation physician, Dr. Roller, the anesthesiologist responsible for this patient during surgery, Dr. Jones, and the nurse anesthetist, Mr. Berry. Tr. at 118; R.E. 3. Dr. Futrell testified that:

As a result of that lack of communication and as a result of the lack of preparation and as a result of the lack of supervision of this patient upon <u>induction</u> of anesthesia, there was a resulting release of gastric contents from the patient upon <u>induction</u> and paralysis due to the beginning of anesthesia that resulted in the contamination of this patient's lungs to a sever (sic) degree.

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