IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

KEVIN BERRY

APPELLANT

٧.

CASE NO. 2009-TS-01441

ORA L. PATTEN, as next friend of BIANCA PATTEN, SHADARRYLHARDNETT, and MARIAH PATTEN

APPELLEE

APPEAL OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO.LO2-138

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

William C. Walker, Jr., Esquire, MSB#299 South Ninth Street, Suite 100 Post Office Box 1115 Oxford, MS 38655 (662) 234-8074

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

The Court instructs the jury that in order to be a proximate cause a Defendant's breach of duty must be a substantial factor in producing Plaintiff's injury. In other words, if Sheila Patten would have died even if both Defendants had not breached their duty, such breach of duty is not a substantial factor and is not a proximate cause. On the other hand, a breach of duty is a proximate cause if it contributes to the Plaintiff's injuries. In other words, it is not necessary that the breach of duty by Defendants, if any, be the sole cause of the death to be the proximate cause, only that such breach of duty, if any, be a contributing cause of the death in question.

Therefore, if you find from a preponderance of the evidence, if any, that either or both Defendant(s) breached their duty toward Plaintiff, as set forth in the Court's other instructions, which breach, if any, proximately caused Sheila Patten's death, then you must find for Plaintiff and against one or both of the Defendant(s).

(Jury Instruction P-2)

The Court instructs the jury that you may not return a verdict founded on speculation or possibilities. In order for Plaintiffs to recover monetary damages against Dr. Frederick D. Jones or Kevin Berry, CRNA, on their claim of medical malpractice, they must prove to a reasonable degree of medical probability that the death of Sheila Patten was the result of medical malpractice or negligence on the part of Dr. Frederick D. Jones or Kevin Berry, CRNA. Speculations and possibilities are to be disregarded.

(Jury Instruction D-4)

The Court instructs the jury that the burden of proof rests upon the Plaintiffs. You are further instructed that a physician may not be held liable for every untold result which may occur in the practice of medicine. A physician is not the warranter of his or her cues not is he or she a guarantor of good health. In order to recover from Dr. Frederick D. Jones and Kevin Berry, CRNA, the Plaintiffs must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Dr. Jones and Kevin Berry were negligent, and Dr. Jones' and Kevin Berry's alleged negligence was the proximate contributing cause of the death of Sheila Patten. Because Sheila Patten died does not mean that the Plaintiffs have proven their case or met their required burden of proof. In order to recover from Dr. Jones and Kevin Berry, Plaintiffs must prove by a preponderance of the credible evidence that such act or failure to act on behalf of Dr. Jones and Kevin Berry was the sole proximate contributing cause of the death of Sheila Patten. If the Plaintiffs have not proven this by the credible evidence, then it is your sworn duty to return a verdict for Dr. Jones and Kevin Berry.

(Jury Instruction D-7)

Ill The trial court followed clear and unquestioned Mississippi statutory and decisional law in refusing to fragment this wrongful death suit, or otherwise complicate it procedurally.

The wrongful death statute provides in pertinent part as follows:

The action for such damages may be brought in the name of a child for the death of a parent...there shall be but one (1) suit for the same death which shall ensue for the benefit of all parties concerned...in such action. the party or party suing shall recover such damages allowed by law as the iury may determine to be just, taking into consideration all the damages of every kind to the decedent and all the damages of every kind to any all parties interested in the suit...in an action brought pursuant to the provisions of this section by the...child,...such party or parties may recover as damages property damages and funeral, medical or other related expenses incurred by or for the deceased as a result of the wrongful or negligent act...whether an estate has been opened or not. Any amount. but only such an amount, as may be recovered for property damage. funeral, medical or other related expenses shall be subject only to the payment of the debts or liabilities of the deceased for property damages. funeral, medical or other related expenses. All other damages recovered under the provisions of this section shall not be subject to the payment of the debts or liabilities of the deceased, except as hereinafter provided. and such damages shall be distributed as follows:...if the deceased has no husband or wife, the damages shall be equally distributed to the children...

(MISS. CODE ANN. §11-7-13)(Emphasis added.)

This controlling statutory law has not in any way been modified to include the requirements asked for but not ever previously, even asked for, much less given.

Indeed, cases relied upon by Defendant involve resolutions when multiple lawsuits and conflicting Plaintiffs rather than a single lawsuit for all the wrongful death beneficiaries and for damages of every kind.

The decision purportedly and erroneously relied upon actually makes various

very specific holdings, none of which require dismissal of the instant lawsuit.

In this wrongful death case, we are called upon to address issues which ought to have been settled long ago. Two law firms representing different wrongful death heirs filed separate wrongful death suits in the same circuit court:... [W]e hold that where the provisions of this opinion conflict with the Statute, the provisions herein shall control... Thus, we hold that the first court to properly take jurisdiction of a wrongful death action in our state courts shall, so long as that action is pending, have exclusive jurisdiction, and any other subsequently filed action for the same death shall be of no effect... We hold that, in wrongful death litigation, all claims shall be joined in one suit. There is no general requirement under the law that the personal representative obtain chancery approval to pursue the claims of the estate in the litigation nor is there a general requirement that counsel representing the personal representative and the estate in the litigation obtain prior chancery court approval of such representation or the agreement for compensation of counsel... Frequently, wrongful death litigation will involve a minor, either as an heir of the estate, a wrongful death beneficiary, or both. In such cases, the representation of the minor's interests, and any agreement for the payment of attorney's fees from the minor's share of proceeds, must be approved by a chancellor, as in other cases. [Note there is no requirement of any prior approval; clearly whatever court in Michigan with authority over minors will have to approve any settlement and/or the disbursement of any award and approval of any attorney's fees.]... Although our statutes mandate no specific procedure for the identification of wrongful death beneficiaries, a chancery court may make such determinations. [Notice that the chancery court need not make a determination especially when no determination is needed, there being absolutely no conflict in a single case with all issues brought by all the wrongful death beneficiaries and statutory heirs.] Long v. McKinney, 897 So.2d 160, 162, 164, 173, 174, 176 (Miss.2004)(Emphasis added.)

Since there is absolutely no dispute that the suit is being brought on behalf of minors who are the sole heirs and wrongful death beneficiaries, all the proceeds which may be recoverable will be equally split among these minors. Defendants' argument as to splitting up portions for estate recovery, etc. does not require that an estate ever be

opened nor that heirs ever be determined. Rather, counsel for all the heirs and wrongful death beneficiaries will be required to look out for their interests and to have a Court protect their interest in Michigan— as to the distribution of any sums awarded for the wrongful death of their mother.

Defendants reference to a footnote in the *Willing v. Estate of Benz*, 958 So.2d 1240, 1257 n.16 (Miss.2007) does not quote the entire footnote nor does it set forth the analysis in *Willing*, which also involved a dispute as to different parties being represented by different attorneys. The footnote states in full:

The court in <u>Long</u> held that chancery approval of representation and of the fee agreement is prudent, but <u>not required</u>, <u>prior</u> to <u>initiating suit</u> on behalf of the estate and other beneficiaries. Chancery court approval is necessary for representation of a minor's interest, for attorney's fees awards from a minor's proceeds, for fees awarded from proceeds of an estate, and for determination of wrongful death beneficiaries.

The analysis of the *Long v. McKinney* opinion in *Willing* makes clear that the submission to Chancery Court of any matter is not necessary prior to the bringing of suit, especially when there is no conflict of interest as to the parties— i.e., all wrongful death beneficiaries and heirs at law are parties to the same lawsuit with the same attorney:

A wrongful death beneficiary may bring suit with or without the knowledge and agreement of the remaining beneficiaries or estate representative... Naturally, in doing so, the beneficiary has authority to retain counsel to prosecute the suit on behalf of all interested parties. However, the representative beneficiary has an affirmative duty to "provide reasonable notice (i) to all wrongful death beneficiaries, (ii) to the personal representative of the decedent if one has been appointed..." Additionally, "full disclosure is required of any agreement or arrangement for the payment of costs or attorney's fees from the portion of recovery attributable to those receiving such notice."... The personal representatives

and/or one or more of the beneficiaries may join the litigation represented by separate counsel... In this event,...the trial judge has discretion, upon petition by the personal representative or any beneficiary, to "equitably adjust and allocate fees among the attorneys based on the quantitative and qualitative contribution of each to the case..." Willing v. Estate of Benz, 958 So.2d 1240, 1256 (Miss.2007) citing Long v. McKinney, 897 So.2d 160 (Miss.2004) (citations omitted from the above quotation)(Emphasis added.)

In accordance with the mandate in *Long v. McKinney*, when all the persons who have an interest in the wrongful death are joined in the same action and, as in the instant case, the only persons who would be entitled to recover anything are one and the same—the three children who are both beneficiaries and heirs at law—all of the money for the different elements may be recovered: "We hold that in wrongful death litigation, all claims shall be joined in one suit." *Long v. McKinney*, <u>supra</u>.

The traditional use of "as next friend of" is ignored in Defendants' argument on appeal, not surprisingly, since Defendants could not get the trial court to overlook the fact that this case is brought in the name of a non-minor as next friend as authorized in Rule 17(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure: "If an infant…does not have a duly appointed representative he may sue by his next friend." In this case, the minor children sued for are undisputedly the only heirs at law or wrongful death beneficiaries of Sheila K. Patten, the decedent.

IV Dr. Mackey's deposition was properly read to the jury.

Appellant complains that Dr. Mackey was not an expert and that yet he was asked to provide expert opinion. As the record makes clear, Dr. Mackey's deposition was taken because one of Appellant's attorneys advised that Dr. Mackey and others

might be called at trial to testify that the anesthesiologist and CRNAs did not use a nasogastric tube in cases where a gastric bypass a.k.a. Roux-en-Y procedure had been performed. Appellee's attorney, therefore, took Dr. Mackey's deposition. (R.Vol.1 of 2, Exhibit P-2, p.652) The examination by Appellee's attorney covered Dr. Mackey's background, asked Dr. Mackey if he had any direct involvement with Sheila Patten or know anything about this case, and was advised that Dr. Mackey did not. The question to Dr. Mackey was always by Plaintiff limited to "in your practice and in the practice of your group." (Id., p.654) The response was that the procedure followed was what was called rapid sequence induction, which procedure was explained as well as the need for it to avoid aspiration. (Id., p.655) Dr. Mackey was then asked Do you use a nasogastric or any other kind of tube to go in and suction the stomach contents, again referring to what Dr. Mackey did in such a procedure. (Id., p.656) He responded it was on a case by case basis. (Id.) He stated that if they knew the stomach was full they would go ahead and suction it out. (Id.) That would be compliant with the standard of care for an anesthesiologist or CRNA in Oxford. (Id., p.657 with no objection)

Mr. Winter, Appellant's attorney, moved from broad questions to the particular facts of the case. (*Id.*, p.658) He gave the details of this lady having had Roux-en-Y gastric bypass eight days before and the small bowel obstruction. He was then asked about Dr. Barnes rule concerning not using an NG suction on a post-gastric bypass small bowel obstruction, and was advised that Dr. Barnes did have such a rule. (*Id.*, pp.658-659) Dr. Mackey called the rule a standard. (*Id.*, pp.659-650) On redirect, Mr. Walker questioned whether Dr. Mackey gave up his right as an anesthesiologist to make an individual and informed decision. Dr. Mackey said that he did not and that if

necessary conversation with the surgeon would occur. (*Id.*, pp.661-663) On p.665 of the record, which is p.16 of Mr. Mackey's deposition, Mr. Walker asked the following question:

Q. In a situation such as this one, which included a small bowel blockage in the gastric surgery previously, shouldn't you have an anesthesiologist actually in the operating room when you are going in there to try to give her anesthesia and make decisions about whether you're going to run a tube in her or not?

BY MR. WINTER: Object to the form. Go ahead.

- Q. You can answer.
- A. I can answer?

BY MR. WINTER: I'm not going to ever tell you you can't answer but I am going to say, "Object to the form." So go right ahead.

- A. Alright. For a situation like that I would say probably yes.
- Q. Because you need an anesthesiologist because of all the difficulties you are facing?
- A. Right.

(Id., p.665)

Significantly, at trial, Appellant's attorneys did not follow up and seek to enforce the objection to the form of that question. While the question might not have been objectionable since it was asking specifically about "you" Dr. Mackey, nevertheless, it is the only thing that might be construed as seeking an opinion. The failure to follow up on that objection renders the argument against allowing Dr. Mackey's deposition to be read in its entirety inappropriate. All Defendant's attorney had to do was to go to the specific questions that arguably called for an opinion and determine whether he objected as to the form. (I didn't remember him objecting to any, but he obviously did to this one.) If he did object, obviously he should have taken that objection up with the judge at that time. The judge then could have been in a position to take out anything

even arguably objectionable. Rather than taking that approach, once the judge said he was going to allow the deposition to be read to the jury, (note that no specific objections had been made then nor had additional time been asked to be allowed to make those objections and although Defendant's attorney had indicated that we might be able to work some of this out if we went through the deposition.) Defendants' attorneys failed to inform the Court precisely as to what they were objecting to. (R.Vol.8, pp.84-96) Defendants' attorney then required Plaintiff's attorney to read not only the questions he asked but to read the questions that they asked.

Of course, the Court's ruling was absolutely correct, having briefly reviewed the deposition and concluding that Mr. Walker's questions appear to be touching upon the general standard of care for a person that presents with this lady's problem. If defense counsel believed that not to be the case, especially since prior to trial Defendants' attorneys' knowing that they were going to object to this deposition, a review of the deposition and an item by item and line by line objection could have been presented to the Court at that very point and that one arguably opinion-type statement could have been addressed.

Finally, it should be noted that Defendant only objects to giving opinions about incomplete factual scenarios. (p.87) The incomplete factual scenario existed, if at all, based upon the representation of the facts made by defense counsel himself. Even assuming error occurred, it clearly was harmless since all that was testified to was also testified to by Dr. Huggins and Dr. Jones.

V Jury Instruction D-15 was properly refused.

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